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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	ROBERTA J. PROCTOR, 

                                                 Employee, 

                                                 Applicant

                                                  v. 

KENAI PENINSULA BOROUGH,

                                                 Employer,

                                                 and 

ALASKA MUNICIPAL LEAGUE

JOINT INSURANCE ASSOCIATION,

                                                Insurer,

                                                Defendants.
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	INTERLOCUTORY

DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200719491
AWCB Decision No.  13-0086
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska 

on July 22, 2013


Kenai Peninsula Borough’s Objection to Admissibility of Medical Records was heard on May 2, 2013, in Anchorage, Alaska, a date selected on February 7, 2013.  Attorney Robert Griffin represented Kenai Peninsula Borough and Alaska Municipal League Joint Insurance Association (collectively, Employer).  Attorney Andrew Lambert represented Roberta J. Proctor (Employee).  Neither party presented witnesses.  The record was held open to allow Employer to provide additional citations.  On May 20, 2013, Employee filed a medical summary containing a May 13, 2013 referral from Kenneth S. Hahn, M.D. to Jorge Antonio Aldrete, M.D., the physician Employer contends was an excessive change of physician and whose report should be stricken.  On May 24, 2013, Employer filed an objection to Employee’s medical summary.  The record closed on May 24, 2013.


ISSUES
Employer contends Employee exercised her “one time” change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a) when she sought treatment from Gary Schoenrock, M.D.  It contends Employee’s subsequent consultation with Dr. Aldrete was an excessive change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a) and 8 AAC 45.082.  Employer further contends Dr. Hahn’s referral to Dr. Aldrete is invalid because it was written after Dr. Aldrete’s report was filed, and because Dr. Hahn was no longer Employee’s physician at the time he wrote the referral on May 13, 2013.  Pursuant to 8 AAC 45.082(c), Employer contends Dr. Aldrete’s opinions, reports and testimony may not be considered in any form, in any proceeding, or for any purpose.

Employee contends Dr. Aldrete is an expert witness whose testimony and reports are admissible in accordance with Alaska Rules of Civil Procedure and Alaska Rules of Evidence.  Employee further asserts nothing in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (Act) or implementing regulations prohibits Employee from calling an expert witness, and excluding Dr. Aldrete’s opinions, reports and testimony would constitute a denial of due process.  Finally, having filed referral from Dr. Hahn to Dr. Aldrete, albeit after the fact, it is presumed Employee contends Dr. Aldrete was thus not a change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a), and his testimony, reports, and opinions may not be excluded under 8 AAC 45.082(c).

1. Did Employee make an unauthorized, excessive change of physician when she consulted Dr. Aldrete?

2. Should Dr. Aldrete’s opinions, reports and testimony be excluded? 


FINDINGS OF FACT

A preponderance of evidence establishes the following relevant facts and factual conclusions: 

1. On September 20, 2007, Employee, an emergency medical technician (EMT) and EMT instructor, was injured in the course and scope of her employment for Kenai Peninsula Borough, when the ambulance in which she was traveling spilled into a ditch.  Employee was unrestrained in the back of the ambulance at the time, as were other passengers, who landed on top of her when the ambulance went off the road.  Employee reported injury to her “Back /neck.”  (Report of injury, September 20, 2007; Medical records, various).

2. Immediate emergency room evaluation noted mid and lower back pain.  Thoracic and lumbar spine X-rays showed spurs at T10-11 on the left, degenerative changes at L5-S1, increased lumbar lordosis, no apparent fractures or subluxations.  Diagnosis was back strain.  Recommended were over-the-counter medications, and follow up if pain symptoms become unmanageable or neurologic symptoms develop.  (ER Report, Randall H. Weist, M.D., September 20, 2007; X-ray reports, Thomas T. Wells, M.D.). 

3. On October 16, 2007, Employee was evaluated by Kenneth S. Hahn, M.D., of Kachemak Bay Medical Clinic in Homer, Alaska, for neck pain, headaches and arm numbness.  A cervical MRI revealed broad based disc bulge, most prominent on the left at C5-6, and causing focal effacement of the thecal sac, and possible slight posterior displacement of the cord.  (MRI report, Jeffrey P. Quam, M.D., October 18, 2007).  On follow-up with Dr. Hahn on October 22, 2007, he assessed “degenerative arthritis of the neck with pain dramatically exacerbated by recent accident.”  Ibuprofen, Feldene, Prednisone and Hydrocodone were prescribed. Employee was referred for physical therapy (PT) and taken off work.  PT was initiated. (Chart notes, Dr. Hahn, October 16 and 22, 2007; MRI Report, October 18, 2007; PT referral, October 22, 2007; PT evaluation and progress notes, Homer Physical Therapy, LLC, October, 2007, continuing).  

4. Kachemak Bay Medical Clinic (Kachemak) has been Employee’s primary care provider since at least February 26, 1999.  (Chart Note, Dr. Hahn, February 26, 1999; SIME binder at 26).  Over the years she has been treated at Kachemak by Dr. Hahn, Nancy Mackey, PA-C (See e.g. Chart Note, May 25, 2005), Ann Restad, PA-C (See e.g. Chart Note, January 2, 2005), Paul D. Raymond, M.D. (See e.g Chart Notes, January 21, 2006, November 9, 2007), Patrick Brady, M.D. (See e.g February 16, 2006), Carol Klamser, ANP-C (See e.g February 9, 2008), and Judith Steyer, M.D. (See e.g February 9, 2010).

5. On February 9, 2008, at Employer’s request, Employee was seen by a two-member panel of physicians (EME panel) comprised of orthopedic surgeon, John Ballard, M.D., and physical and rehabilitation specialist, Patrick L. Radecki, M.D.  The EME panel concluded the work injury was the substantial cause of Employee’s cervical and thoracic strains, causing an aggravation of a previously asymptomatic cervical spondylosis and degenerative disc disease.  (EME Report, John Ballard, M.D., Patrick L. Radecki, M.C. February 9, 2008 at 9).  They concluded Employee was not medically stable (Id. at 11), and noted Employee “to be honest and straightforward in her presentation.” (Id. at 12).

6. Also on February 9, 2008, Employee was seen at Kachemak complaining of rectal bleeding and right lower quadrant pain.  She related a history of colitis.  ANP Klamser prescribed Levaquin and Bentyl, counseled to avoid food triggers, and if symptoms worsened, including pain and fever, to go immediately to the emergency room (ER).  Employer does not contend this, or Employee’s visits to any Kachemak providers, was a change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a). (Chart Note, February 9, 2008; Employer representation at hearing).

7. On February 13, 2008, Employee presented at the ER with increased symptoms.  A colonoscopy was performed.  Employer does not contend this, or any ER visit, was a change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a).  (ER note, Pre-Operative, Progress Notes, February 13, 2008; Employer representation at hearing).  On February 14, 2008, Employee resumed PT for her cervical spine pain.  (PT Progress Notes, February 14, 2008 and continuing).

8. On April 25, 2008, Employee was seen for “cervical pain” by Shawn P. Johnston, M.D., of Alaska Spine Institute (ASI).  In response to ASI’s intake questions, Employee wrote:  “I would like to determine if there are and explore options to improve my condition.  I have been in physical therapy for 7 months with minimal improvement that seems temporary.”  She indicated she hoped for “pain reduction,” “return to work,” and “increased recreation.”  Although no written referral to Dr. Johnston appears in the medical records, Employer conceded Employee’s care from ASI physicians was not a change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a).  Dr. Johnston’s evaluation report and chart note indicates it was being copied to “WC,” presumably Employer’s workers’ compensation insurance carrier.  (Evaluation, Shawn P. Johnston, M.D., April 25, 2008; Record; Employer representation at hearing; inference).

9. On April 25, 2008, on referral from Dr. Johnston, in order to reduce Employee’s pain and increase function, Larry A. Levine, M.D., also of ASI, performed bilateral C3, C4, C5, C6 medial branch nerve blocks under fluoroscopic guidance. (Procedure Note, April 25, 2008).

10. On May 8, 2008, again on referral from Dr. Johnston, in order to reduce Employee’s thoracic pain, Dr. Levine performed bilateral T6, T7, T8, T9 medial nerve branch blocks under fluoroscopic guidance.    (Chart note, Dr. Johnston, May 7, 2008; Procedure note, Dr. Levine, May 8, 2008).  

11. On May 24, 2008, Employee returned to Kachemak and saw Dr. Raymond.  Dr. Raymond noted Employee “has been followed by Alaska Spine Institute and is scheduled to have further injections.”  Medical records reflect Employee continuing in PT. (Chart note, May 24, 2008; PT progress notes, continuing).

12. On June 2, 2008, Employee was seen by Dr. Johnston, and was referred for bilateral C6, C7, C8 medial branch blocks, and bilateral C6-7, C7-T-1 facet blocks under fluoroscopic guidance.  These were performed by J. Michael James, M.D., also of ASI.  (Chart note, Procedure note, ASI, June 2, 2008).  

13. On July 15, 2008, Dr. Levine attempted to perform bilateral C3, C4, C5, C6 medial branch rhizotomy using standard radiofrequency thermocoagulation under fluoroscopic guidance, but halted the procedure given Employee’s movement, opining it should be attempted only with monitored anesthesia.  On July 16, 2008, under anesthesia, Dr. James performed bilateral C3, C4, C5, C6 medial branch rhizotomy using standard radiofrequency thermocoagulation under fluoroscopic guidance.  (Chart notes, Procedure notes, ASI, July 15, 16, 2008).

14. On August 1, 2008, at Employer’s request, Employee was seen for a second EME, again performed by Drs. Ballard and Radecki.  Drs. Ballard and Radecki opined Employee was not yet medically stable.  (EME Report, August 1, 2008).

15. On August 12, 2008, Dr. Johnston noted Employee’s relief from medial branch blocks had been short-lived, and the radiofrequency ablation resulted in more muscular pain.  He recommended a change in medication, with physical therapy to include ultrasound, electrical stimulation, massage, and a trial of traction.  (Chart note, August 12, 2008).

16. On August 28, 2008, a physical capacities evaluation (PCE) was conducted at ASI.  John DeCarlo, OTR, concluded that based on a 95% validity profile score, Employee exerted maximal effort, presented a moderate pain profile, symptom exaggeration was not present, and Employee’s movement patterns did not appear to be out of proportion to her pain complaints.  He believed Employee’s performance placed her in the light physical demand classification. (PCE evaluation, August 28, 2008).  Employee continued with PT at Homer Physical Therapy.  (PT Progress Notes, continuing).

17. On September 10, 2008, Employee returned to Kachemak complaining of severe pain in the left arm with her hand turning blue and painful since the last procedure at ASI.  Objectively, Dr. Raymond noted her left hand was cold and dusky compared to the right, grip strength was reduced, and she had no brachioradialis or biceps reflex.  Dr. Raymond assessed Reflex sympathetic dystrophy response and pain involving recent surgical intervention.  She was to continue PT and given Hytrin to help increase capillary flow.  Dr. Raymond noted Employee had an appointment at ASI and would follow up on these complaints at that time.  (Chart note, Dr. Raymond, September 10, 2008).

18. At a September 17, 2008 office visit, Dr. Johnston noted the radiofrequency ablation worsened Employee’s symptoms.  He recommended a work hardening program. (Chart note, September 17, 2008).

19. On October 6, 2008, OTR DeCarlo performed a work hardening program evaluation.  He noted Employee reported interest in obtaining at least a medium level strength, and has been looking forward to the program and its results.  (Work Hardening Program Evaluation, October 6, 2008).

20. On November 17, 2008, Dr. Johnston prescribed a TENS (transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation) unit.  (TENS prescription, November 17, 2008).  

21. On November 18, 2008, on completion of the six week work-hardening program, OTR DeCarlo reported Employee exerted maximal effort throughout the program, had a validity score of 100%, exhibited no symptom exaggeration, and had improved to the medium physical demand classification. (Physical Capacities Evaluation Report, November 18, 2008).

22. On November 22, 2008, at Employer’s request, Employee was seen for a third EME.  This evaluation was conducted by orthopedic surgeon Douglas Bald, M.D.  As there is no apparent referral from Drs. Ballard or Radecki to Dr. Bald in the record, this may constitute Employer’s first authorized change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a).  No finding to that effect is made, however, as changes of physician by Employer were not an issue for this hearing.  (EME Report, November 22, 2008; Observation).
23. On examination, Dr. Bald reported Employee’s chief complaints were neck and upper back pain, and intermittent tingling in the third, fourth and fifth fingers of both hands.  Dr. Bald diagnosed degenerative disc disease, cervical spine, pre-existing, with symptomatic aggravation secondary to work-related motor vehicle accident on September 20, 2007; and cervicothoracic strain, secondary to the work injury. Dr. Bald opined Employee had attained medical stability, medical treatment to date was reasonable and necessary, no further medical treatment was necessary other than a self-directed neck and upper back home exercise program, and Employee had sustained a 2% whole person permanent partial impairment (PPI).  (EME Report, November 22, 2008).
24. On December 15, 2008, Dr. Johnston concurred with Dr. Bald’s 2% PPI rating.  (PPI Rating, December15, 2008).

25. On December 24, 2008, Employee presented at the South Peninsula Hospital emergency room (ER), complaining of increasing right-sided headache and neck pain, significant pain with any neck movement, numbing sensation in her hand, visual blurring and nausea without vomiting.  A brain CT was normal.  She was seen by Dr. Raymond, who gave her Demerol and Phenergan, released her home with Toradol, with instructions to follow-up in his office.  (ER Report, December 24, 2008).

26. On December 31, 2008, a cervical MRI revealed:

1. Spinal canal stenosis is noted at the C5-6 level related to a diffuse disc bulge that is asymmetric, left greater than right, with corresponding endplate osteophytes.  Compared to the previous study, the diffuse disc bulge appears slightly more prominent, and slight compromise of the left neural foramen is suspected.  Cervical cord appears slightly kinked at the C5-6 level, but no syrinx or intradual (sic, intradural) abnormality is seen.   (Bold in original).
2. A small asymmetric diffuse disc bulge is seen at the C6-7 level, slightly more prominent on the right than on the left.  Spinal canal stenosis is minimal, and no neural foraminal narrowing is identified.
3. Reactive marrow changes are seen in C5 and C6 vertebrae consistent with inflammation.  This was present previously.
4. Given the slightly increased kinked appearance of the cervical cord and related spinal stenosis, additional followup may be warranted.  (Imaging Report, December 30, 2008, William S. Roberts, M.D.).
27. On January 2, 2009, Employee returned to Kachemak and saw Dr. Hahn.  Dr. Hahn noted referring Employee to “Dr. Jensen, neurosurgeon” for her increasing neck pain, arm numbness, cervicogenic headaches and vision blurring.  Dr. Hahn suggested the work hardening may be causing the increase in symptoms and suggested considering backing off since it did not seem to be helping.  Employee continued in PT.  Employer conceded this referral was not a change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a).  (Chart note, January 12, 2009; PT progress notes, continuing; Employer representation at hearing).

28. On January 8, 2009, Employee was examined by Dr.  Jensen of Alaska Neuroscience Associates.  After reviewing the December 30 2008 MRI, Dr. Jensen assessed “Post-traumatic C5-C6 retrolisthesis with associated disc bulging and spinal stenosis as well as significant foraminal disease.  Disc bulging at C6-C7 with associated foraminal stenosis.”  He opined “It is my impression that the patient’s findings are indeed related to her motor vehicle accident.”  He wished to obtain a CT to rule out fractures not identified on previous x-ray and MRI, and a full flexion-extension cervical spine x-ray to rule out instability at C5-C6.  He noted Employee may be a candidate for cervical disc replacement or fusion.  Dr. Jensen conveyed his evaluation report to both Drs. Hahn and Raymond at Kachemak, as well as a separate letter to referring physician Dr. Hahn.  (Evaluation Report, Letter, Dr. Jensen, January 8, 2009).

29. On January 12, 2009, the flexion-extension views were obtained, and Employee saw Dr. Hahn.  Dr. Hahn assessed “Cervical discogenic issues and an impinged cervical cord.”  (X-ray report, Jeffrey Quam, M.D.; Chart note, Dr. Hahn, January 12, 2009).

30. On January 28, 2009, Dr. Jensen performed a C5-6 anterior cervical decompression and fusion.  (Operative Report, January 28, 2009). 

31. Two months after surgery, Employee reported headaches gone, and appeared to be improving.  (Chart note, March 19, 2009).  Six months after surgery, Employee reported some pain returning, and numbness worsening in her radial forearm and right middle finger.  Dr. Jensen’s physician’s assistant, Jane Sonnenburg, assessed brachial neuritis.  (Chart note, June 11, 2009).  Dr. Jensen referred Employee back to ASI for cervical injection.  (Id., Patient Referral Form, June 15, 2009, SIME 774).  Employer conceded this referral did not constitute a change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a).  (Employer representation at hearing).

32. On June 16, 2009, Dr. Levine performed a Right C7 Selective Nerve Root Block under Fluoroscopic Guidance.  It provided relief for 48 hours.  (Operative Report, June 16, 2009; Chart note, Dr. Jensen, September 3, 2009).  Dr. Jensen ordered a CT myelogram, which was performed on September 10, 2009.  It revealed a central and right-sided extradural defect at the C6-7 level with some minimal cord compression of the right side of the cord suspicious for a herniated disc, postoperative changes at C5-6 with minimal posterior bony spurring, and mild bilateral foraminal stenosis at C5-6.  (Radiology Consultation Report, David A Moeller, M.D., September 10 2009).

33. On September 11, 2009, Employee presented to the ER at South Peninsula Hospital complaining of headache.  She was seen by Patrick Brady, M.D., also a Kachemak provider, who diagnosed headache associated with the contrast agent used during the CT myelogram, or related to a CSF (cerebrospinal fluid) leak from physical activity following the spinal puncture.  She was given Demerol and Phenergan, and advised if her headaches persisted, particularly when she stands up, to come in for a patch in the area of her lumbar puncture.  (ER report, Dr. Brady, September 11, 2009). 

34. On September 16, 2009, Dr. Jensen referred Employee back to Dr. Levine to perform EMG (electromyelography) and NCS (nerve conduction study) of Employee’s left upper extremity.  This was later changed to EMG and NCS on bilateral upper extremities.  (Referral Forms, September 16, 18, 2009; Order Requisition Form, September 30, 2009).  He also ordered a CT/myelogram without contrast.  (Order form, September 16, 2009).

35. On September 17, 2009, Employee again presented at the South Peninsula Hospital ER complaining of headache associated with standing and bending forward.  A call was placed to Dr. Jensen’s office, and it was arranged for a Dr. Peterson to perform a “blood patch.”
  Employer conceded this referral did not constitute a change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a).  (Employer representation at hearing).  The blood patch was performed, and Employee was to follow up as needed with Kachemak and with Dr. Jensen.  (ER Report, Informed Consent for Epidural Blood Patch, September 17, 2009). On referral from Dr. Jensen, on October 15, 2009, Dr. Levine performed EMG studies.  He concluded Employee demonstrated mild carpal tunnel syndrome on the right and mild to moderate symptoms on the left, which might explain some of her hand symptoms.  He recommended use of a splint at night.  He found no evidence of significant cervical radiculopathy, plexopathy, brachial abnormality or other changes.  (EMG Study Report, Letter to Dr. Jensen, October 15, 2009).

36. Based on Employee’s continuing symptomatology and the diagnostics performed, Dr. Jensen recommended a C6-7 decompression and fusion as having the best potential to eliminate her progressive axial pain.  (Chart note, October 15, 2009).

37. On October 26, 2009, Dr. Jensen performed a second level decompression and cervical fusion at C6-7, and removal of the C5-6 anterior cervical plate.  (Operative Report, October 26, 2009).

38. At a January 7, 2010 post-operative exam, Employee was seen by PA Sonnenburg.  PA Sonnenburg reported Employee doing very well with complete resolution of preoperative cervical complaints, although low back pain has been worsening over the last couple of months with right lower extremity radiculopathy.  PA Sonnenburg planned to obtain lumbar x-rays, as well as MRI without contrast, Employee to follow up with Dr. Jensen to review imaging studies.  (Chart note, January 7, 2010).

39. A complete lumbar spine x-ray series conducted on January 11, 2010, revealed an “essentially normal” lumbar spine, with only very tiny anterior osteophytes at the L3 and L4 interspaces, normal vertebral alignment, no significant degenerative narrowing of the interspaces, no significant degenerative changes of the facets.  (X-ray Report, Jeffrey P. Quam, M.D., January 11, 2010).

40. The January 11, 2010 MRI revealed very minimal circumferential disc bulges at the L4-5 and L5-S1 levels, no focal disc protrusions, central canal stenosis or foraminal narrowing at any of the imaged levels, but three small benign vertebral hemangiomata with two in the L2 vertebral body and in the S1 segment.  (MRI Report, Dr. Quam, January 11, 2010).

41. Reviewing the x-ray and MRI films on January 14, 2010, Dr. Jensen opined Employee was symptomatic from “an arachnoiditis-type picture,” with possibly a small tear at L5-S1, and symptoms from an L5-S1 “bright spot.”  He recommended a right L5-S1 transforaminal nerve root injection to be performed by Dr. Levine.  Dr. Levine performed the procedure on January 15, 2010. (Chart note, January 14, 2010; Procedure Note, January 15, 2010).

42. On January 28, 2010, in follow-up with Dr. Jensen, Employee reported burning pain at the tips of her toes with any irritation such as bedsheets, and painful toes particularly during walking.  Dr. Jensen noted a warm extremity, and trouble eliciting either patellar or Achilles responses.  Dr. Jensen noted “my working diagnosis is arachnoiditis after a lumbar puncture for CT myelogram followed by an epidural patch.”  He recommended a two and a half week steroid taper, Neurontin 300 mg, and return in three weeks.  He expected the condition to improve.  Dr. Hahn at Kachemak was copied with the note.  Employee continued in PT as ordered.  (Chart note, January 28, 2010; PT progress notes).

43. On February 6, 2010, Employee presented at the South Peninsula Hospital ER with complaints of severe back pain radiating down past the hips and into both knees.  Dr. Jensen could not be reached.  She was kept in the hospital, given IV steroids to provide pain relief, and a Demerol PCA pump. (ER Report, February 6, 2010).

44. On February 7, 2010, Dr. Hahn saw Employee in the hospital.  He assessed Arachnoiditis; severe back pain, improving; and shakiness secondary to steroids.  She was discharged on February 9, 2010 to follow up with Dr. Jensen. (Chart note, February 7, 2010; Discharge Summary, February 9, 2010).

45. On February 11, 2010, Employee saw PA Sonnenburg at Dr. Jensen’s office.  PA Sonnenburg noted Employee was diagnosed with arachnoiditis at last visit with Dr. Jensen.  Dr. Jensen would like Employee to see Dr. Lawrence Stinson to assist in controlling her pain.  Dr. Stinson agreed to see Employee and her records were faxed. A formal referral was completed.  (Chart note, February 11, 2010; Order Requisition Form, Referral to Dr. Larry Stinson, February 11, 2010).  Employer conceded this referral did not constitute a change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a).  (Employer representation at hearing).

46. On February 12, 2010, Employee was examined by Lawrence Stinson, M.D., a pain medicine specialist, of Advanced Medical Centers of Alaska.  Dr. Stinson assessed status post two anterior cervical fusions with normal healing and some decrease in range of motion, and Arachnoiditis with ongoing neuropathic pain.  He recommended a trial of spinal cord stimulation as a “very reasonable option for intractable neuropathic pain secondary to arachnoiditis.”  (Consultation report, February 12, 2010).

47. On February 15, 2010, Employee returned to Kachemak for follow-up with Dr. Hahn concerning steroid taper.  She reported a cough and difficulty sleeping.   Dr. Hahn’s assessment was “Arachnoiditis secondary to anxiety with steroids.  Follow up bronchitis.  Insomnia.”  Zithromax, Lorazepam, and Ambien were prescribed.  Employee was to follow up with Dr. Stinson.  (Chart note, February 15, 2010).

48. A handwritten notation dated “3-3-10,” appears beneath Dr. Hahn’s February 15, 2010 typewritten chart note stating “urinary frequency & small burning upon urination.”  No association between this symptom and Employee’s neck and back complaints is indicated.  (Notation, March 3, 2010; Observation).

49. On February 28, 2010, Employee returned to the South Peninsula Hospital ER reporting muscle cramping and increasing weakness, making it difficult to walk.  She was seen by Dr. Raymond, who noted Employee “has almost a cushingoid appearance.”    She was diagnosed with severe generalized weakness with muscle cramping, most likely secondary to chronic steroid use, “mild hyponatremia
 and hypochloremia.”
  She was given intravenous saline, potassium chloride and magnesium sulfate.  After four hours she reported feeling much better and wished to go home.  Dr. Raymond noted “I anticipate once she is off the steroids her symptoms will improve.”  (ER Note, February 28, 2010).

50. On March 11, 2010, Dr. Stinson prescribed continued massage therapy three times per week for one month.  (Prescription, March 11, 2010).

51. On March 23, 2010, at Employer’s request, Employee was seen for another EME.  This was conducted by Lynne Adams Bell, M.D., neurologist.  This EME was not preceded by a written referral from Drs. Ballard, Radecki or Bald.   (EME Report, March 23, 2010; observation).
52. On April 8, 2010, Dr. Bald wrote to Employer:  “Due to the fact that I am unavailable indefinitely and not seeing claimants, Ms. Roberta Proctor was referred to see Dr. Lynne Adams Bell, M.D., for an exam on March 23, 2010 at my request.”  Dr. Bald is an orthopedic surgeon.  Dr. Bell is a neurologist.  (Dr. Bald letter to Carol Jacobsen, of New Northern Rehabilitation Services, Inc., April 8, 2010; observation).

53. At the hearing held in this case, Employer argued that referrals written “after the fact” are impermissible under 8 AAC 45.082(c), which provides that when a party makes an unlawful change of physician in violation of AS 23.30.095(a) or (e), “the board will not consider the reports, opinion, or testimony of the physician in any form, in any proceeding, or for any purpose.” (Emphasis made by Employer at hearing).

54. On April 19, 2010, Employee returned to Dr. Stinson.  Different treatment options were discussed.  Dr. Stinson believed a trial of spinal cord stimulation was still warranted.  He planned to obtain a thoracic MRI to see if any lesions or mass effect on the cord could explain Employee’s symptoms.  Dr. Stinson’s assessment remained “Arachnoiditis with ongoing lower extremity neuropathic pain.” (Chart note, April 19, 2010).
55. On April 21, 2010, Dr. Stinson noted the thoracic MRI was unremarkable.  He believed Employee was handling her symptoms “quite well emotionally.”  His assessment was “Arachnoiditis with ongoing neuropathic pain predominately in a right L5 dermatomal pattern . . . persisting and progressively interfering with . . . activities of daily living.”   The plan was to pursue a trial of spinal cord stimulation to relieve her neuropathic pain. (Chart note, April 21, 2010). 
56. On April 22, 2010, Employee was seen by PA Sonnenberg at Dr. Jensen’s office for C5-6 fusion follow-up.  PA Sonnenburg noted Employee reporting her arm pain had totally resolved, with no numbness or tingling, and no neck pain.  PA Sonnenburg noted she “does have arachnoiditis and continues to battle her lower extremity symptoms.”  (Chart note, April 22, 2010).
57. On April 30, 2010, Dr. Bell wrote to Carol Jacobsen at New Northern Rehabilitation Services, Inc., apparently Employer’s nurse case manager for Employee’s case.  Dr. Bell wrote “I previously performed an IME examination on Ms. Roberta Proctor . . . As noted in my report . . . I recommended an Independent radiological review of the 1/11/2010 lumbar spine MRI study to determine if there is sufficient radiological evidence of arachnoiditis . . . I would specifically recommend an evaluation by Dr. Gerald Warnock, radiologist and medical director of Epic Imaging in Portland, OR.   (Letter Dr. Bell to Jacobsen, April 30, 2010).
58. At a May 4, 2010 visit with Dr. Hahn, Employee was reporting significant hair loss following full taper and cessation of steroids.  Dr. Hahn noted Employee with slight Cushingoid facies, family history of Graves disease, and ordered thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) testing to ensure this was not a contributing factor to her hair loss.  He suspected she had less hair loss than usual while she was on steroids, and now was in a catch-up phase.  (Chart note, May 4, 2010). 
59. On May 10, 2010, Erik M. Kussro, D.O. reported to Dr. Stinson the results of EMG and NCS testing reflected no electrodiagnostic evidence of a right or left lumbosacral radiculopathy at that time.  (Letter to Dr. Stinson from Dr. Kussro, May 10, 2010).  Employer conceded this referral did not constitute a change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a).  (Employer representation at hearing).

60. On May 19, 2010, at Employer’s request, Dr. Gerald Warnock performed an EME records review.  If Dr. Bell was an unauthorized change of physician by Employer, her referral to Dr. Warnock may be invalid, and Dr. Warnock may also constitute an unauthorized change of physician by Employer under AS 23.30.095(a).  No finding is made to that effect, however, as changes of physician by Employer were not an issue for this hearing.  (EME Report, March 23, 2010; observation).

61. On July 1, 2010, Employee was seen in follow-up with Dr. Jensen.  He reiterated his diagnosis of “progressive symptomatic arachnoiditis,” and his opinion a dorsal column stimulator would be the best option for reducing her pain levels.  (Chart note, July 1, 2010).
62. On August 19, 2010, Employee saw Gary Schoenrock, M.D., a urologist, who owns and operates Kenai Peninsula Urology, LLC, in Soldotna, Alaska.  (Chart note, August 19, 2010; experience, observation).  Employer contends the absence of a written referral from Dr. Hahn to Dr. Schoenrock is evidence Employee was not seen by Dr. Schoenrock on referral.  (Employer argument at hearing).  Accordingly, Employer contends, Employee’s consultation with Dr. Schoenrock constitutes her first “authorized” change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a), making her subsequent consultation with Dr. Aldrete unauthorized, and thereby rendering Dr. Aldrete’s reports, opinions and testimony inadmissible.  (Employer Hearing Brief).
63. At Employee’s August 19, 2010, office visit, Dr. Schoenrock states Employee’s “HPI,” History of Present Illness as:  “60 year old female presents with c/o Dysuria.
  c/o (complains of) Incomplete Voiding.  c/o stress incontinence.   c/o urge incontinence.”  For the patient’s “Medical History” Dr. Schoenrock notes Employee’s reported “Arachnoiditis, Chronic back pain.”  For “Surgical” and “Hospitalization” histories Dr. Schoenrock noted Employee’s reported C5-6 fusion in 1/2009, C6-7 fusion in 10/2009, and earlier common surgeries including tonsillectomy, appendectomy and hysterectomy.  Dr. Schoenrock’s physical examination included skin, neck, lungs, cardiovascular, lumphatic, abdomen and extremities, with concentration on female genitourinary examination, where he noted “BLADDER NECK MOBILITY +1.  CYSTOCELE +2.  Enterocele none.  RETROCELE 1+.  Urethral meatus: normal.  Uterus: surgically absent.”  His physical examination did not include musculoskeletal or neurological systems evaluation.  Dr. Schoenrock performed a Cystometrogram,
 urinalysis, and Marshall test.
  (Progress Note, “NP” (New patient), August 19, 2010).
64. Dr. Schoenrock diagnosed “DETRUSOR INSTABILITY
- Primary, and CYSTOCELE MIDLINE.
  He prescribed Vesicare 5-10 mg/day, and return for follow up in two weeks. (Id.).
65. The New Patient Registration Form Employee completed for Kenai Peninsula Urology, LLC, makes no mention of her having suffered any work injury, lists her insurance provider as Premera Blue Cross, with her husband as the subscriber, and lists her urological concerns as “difficulty urinating,” “incomplete bladder emptying,” and “incontinence.”  (New Patient Registration Form, August 19, 2010).
66. Dr. Schoenrock’s August 19, 2010 chart note makes no mention of Employee reporting to him having suffered any work injury, or seeking treatment from him for perceived sequelae from a work injury.  (Id.; observation).
67. On August 30, 2010, Employee returned to Dr. Schoenrock as scheduled.  Dr. Schoenrock noted she was “somewhat better on the Vesicare 5 mg and didn’t go up to the 10 mg.”  Dr. Schoenrock assessed Detrusor Instability, recommended Employee increase the Vesicare to 10 mg daily, and follow up in two weeks.  (Progress note, August 30, 2010).
68. Dr. Schoenrock’s  August  30, 2010 chart note makes no mention of Employee reporting to him having suffered any work injury, or seeking treatment from him for perceived sequelae from a work injury.  (Id.; observation).
69. On September 13, 2010, Employee returned to Dr. Schoenrock as scheduled.  Employee stated she was able to urinate better on the Vesicare 10 mg.  Dr. Schoenrock assessed Detrusor Instability, wrote a three month prescription for Vesicare to 10 mg daily with one refill, with follow up in six months.  (Progress note, September 13, 2010).  

70. Dr. Schoenrock’s September 13, 2010 chart note makes no mention of Employee reporting to him having suffered any work injury, or seeking treatment from him for perceived sequelae from a work injury.  (Id.; observation).
71. There are no further medical records for visits with Dr. Schoenrock in the agency file.  (Observation).

72. There is no evidence Dr. Schoenrock completed or filed a Physician Report, Form 07-6102, for any medical services provided in relation to a work injury.  (Record; observation; Employer representation at hearing).  

73. There is no evidence Dr. Schoenrock’s bills for professional services provided, or procedures conducted, were submitted to Employer for payment for services related to a work injury.  (Employer representation at hearing).

74. There is no evidence Employee ever solicited or Dr. Schoenrock ever provided care for, or opinion concerning a relationship if any between, Employee’s urological complaints and her work injury, or indeed even knew Employee sustained a work injury. (Record; observation).

75. There is no evidence that at the time she sought care from Dr. Schoenrock for her urological complaints, Employee was seeking care for anything other than a common post-menopausal female urological problem.  (Experience, judgment, observation, facts of the case and inferences therefrom).  While Dr. Schoenrock’s August 19, 2010 chart note states:  “Pt states that she has Arachnoiditis and has been having intermittent bladder and bowel problems,” this statement, in light of the totality of circumstances surrounding the care Employee sought from Dr. Schoenrock, and the care he provided, is unpersuasive evidence Employee was seeking care for either known or suspected sequelae of a work injury.  (Experience, judgment).
76. On September 17, 2010, at Employer’s request, Employee was seen for another EME, again with Dr. Lynne Adams Bell.  If Dr. Bell’s initial EME was an unauthorized change of physician by Employer, this evaluation may constitute furtherance of an unauthorized change of physician by Employer under AS 23.30.095(a).  No finding is made to that effect, however, as changes of physician by Employer were not an issue for this hearing.  At page 16 of this EME report, Dr. Bell’s third, she recommended a further EME by a practicing neurosurgeon, and identified Bradley J. Bergquist, M.D. as the physician to conduct it. (EME Report, September 17, 2010; Observation).
77. On November 3, 2010, at Employer’s request, Employee was seen for another EME, a panel comprised of Bradley J. Bergquist, M.D., neurosurgeon, and S. David Glass, M.D., psychiatrist.  If Dr. Bell’s initial EME was an unauthorized change of physician by Employer, her referral to Dr. Bergquist may constitute furtherance of an unauthorized change of physician by Employer under AS 23.30.095(a).  No finding is made to that effect, however, as changes of physician by Employer were not an issue for this hearing.  (November 3, 2010, EME Report; observation).
78. As no referral from anyone to Dr. Glass is evident in the record, Dr. Glass’s participation in the panel EME may constitute an unauthorized change of physician by Employer under AS 23.30.095(a), possibly invalidating Dr. Glass’s, if not also Dr. Bergquist’s reports, opinions and testimony.   No finding is made to that effect, however, as changes of physician by Employer were not an issue for this hearing.  (Record; Observation).
79. On November 23, 2010, Employee, through counsel, filed a Workers’ Compensation Claim seeking medical costs for a spinal cord stimulator, attorney fees and costs.  (Claim, November 23, 2010).  Employee has not filed a further claim, or amended her original claim for benefits beyond a spinal cord stimulator, attorney fees and costs.  (Record; observation)
80. On December 2, 2010, Employer filed a Controversion Notice denying temporary total and temporary partial disability benefits (TTD and TPD), all future medical benefits and all benefits associated with bowel and bladder complaints, based solely on the November 3, 2010 EME report of Dr. Bergquist.  It denied Employee a spinal cord stimulator based on the EME reports of Drs. Bell, Bergquist and Glass.  Employer denied payment for permanent partial impairment benefits (PPI) in excess of 2% based on an EME report from Dr. Bell.  And based on the EME reports of Drs. Bell, Bergquist and Warnock, it denied all benefits associated with arachnoiditis.  (Controversion Notice, dated November 30, 2010).

81. On December 9, 2010, at Employer’s request, Employee was again seen for an EME with Dr. Bell.  As previously noted, no referral to Dr. Bell from Drs. Ballard or Radecki, and only an “after the fact” referral from Bald is evident from the agency record.  Accordingly, Dr. Bell’s December 9, 2010 may constitute an unauthorized change of physician by Employer under AS 23.30.095(a).  No finding to that effect is made, however, as changes of physician by Employer were not an issue for hearing.  (EME Report, December 9, 2010; Observation).
82. On December 10, 2010, Employer answered, denying a spinal cord stimulator was reasonable and necessary treatment.  (Answer, dated December 9, 2010).
83. On July 8, 2011, Employee was seen for an SIME by Bruce M. McCormack, M.D.  (EME Report).

84. Dr. McCormack’s SIME report reviewed and considered the reports of EME physicians Drs. Ballard, Radecki, Bald, Bell, Warnock, Bergquist and Glass.  (SIME report).

85. On June 3, 2012, Employee consulted with Jorge Antonio Aldrete, M.D.  Dr. Aldrete issued a written report diagnosing Employee with arachnoiditis and making recommendations for her care, including intravenous infusion therapy, multimodal medication management excluding narcotics, isometric and aquatic exercises, an elastic lumbosacral support, avoidance of flexion and hyperextension of the lumbar spine, squatting, crawling, pushing, pulling, carrying or lifting heavy objects, rest, and avoiding invasive spinal procedures, including a spinal cord stimulator.  (Dr. Aldrete Report, June 3, 2012).  

86. On June 26, 2012, Dr. Aldrete’s report was filed by Employee on a medical summary.  On September 10, 2012, Dr. Aldrete’s responses to Employee interrogatories were filed on a medical summary.  Employer filed objections to admission of Dr. Aldrete’s reports, opinions and testimony alleging Dr. Aldrete was an unauthorized excessive change of physician by Employee under AS 23.30.095(a).  (Medical summaries, June 26, 2012, September 10, 2012; Employer Objections, July 13, 2012, October 15, 2012).

87. On May 20, 2013, after the hearing in this case, Employee filed a written referral from Dr. Hahn at Kachemak Bay Medical Clinic, to Dr. J. Antonio Aldrete regarding arachnoiditis.  (Medical Summary, attached referral form).

88. On May 24, 2013, Employer filed a written objection to the “after-the-fact” referral from Dr. Hahn to Dr. Aldrete, contending a referral made after the fact is invalid, an argument Employer also made at hearing, and asserting Dr. Hahn was no longer Employee’s physician.  The basis for this last assertion was not explained.  (Objection, May 24, 2013; Employer representation at hearing).

89. Other than Dr. Schoenrock, Employer conceded none of the other physicians Employee consulted since her work injury was a change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a). (Employer representation at hearing).

90. Other than Dr. Aldrete, Employer does not contend any physician Employee consulted since her work injury was an excessive change of physician whose medical records should be stricken.  (Employer representation at hearing).

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.001.  Intent of the legislature and construction of chapter.  It is the intent of the legislature that

1) this chapter be interpreted so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers who are subject to the provisions of this chapter;

2) workers’ compensation cases shall be decided on their merits except where otherwise provided by statute;

3)  this chapter may not be construed by the courts in favor of a party;

4) hearings in workers’ compensation cases shall be impartial and fair to all parties and that all parties shall be afforded due process and an opportunity to be heard and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered.

The general purpose of workers’ compensation statutes is to provide workers with a simple, speedy remedy to be compensated for injuries arising out of their employment.  Hewing v. Peter Kiewit & Sons, 586 P.2d 182 (Alaska 1978).  Furthermore, this system is based upon “the ultimate social philosophy behind compensation liability,” which is to resolve work-related injuries “in the most efficient, most dignified, and most certain form.”  Gordon v. Burgess Construction Co., 425 P.2d 602, 604 (Alaska 1967).

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the employee. . . .  The board may authorize continued treatment or care or both as the process of recovery may require.  When medical care is required, the injured employee may designate a licensed physician to provide all medical and related benefits.  The employee may not make more than one change in the employee’s choice of attending physician without the written consent of the employer.  Referral to a specialist by the employee’s attending physician is not considered a change in physicians.  Upon procuring the services of a physician, the injured employee shall give proper notification of the selection to the employer within a reasonable time after first being treated.  Notice of a change in the attending physician shall be given before the change.  (emphasis added).

. . .

(e) The employee shall, after an injury, at reasonable times during the continuance of the disability, if requested by the employer or when ordered by the board, submit to an examination by a physician or surgeon of the employer’s choice authorized to practice medicine under the laws of the jurisdiction in which the examination occurs, furnished and paid for by the employer.  The employer may not make more than one change in the employer’s choice of a physician or surgeon without the written consent of the employee.  Referral to a specialist by the employer’s physician is not considered a change in physicians. . . .  (emphasis added).
Under the Act, both an employee and an employer can make one change to their respective physician without the written consent of the other party, while referrals to a specialist by either party’s physician are not limited.  The purpose of the “one change of physician” rule is to curb doctor shopping.  E.g.  Bloom v. Tekton, Inc., 5 P.3d 235, 235 (Alaska 2000); Coppe v. United Parcel Service, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 11-0084 (June 17, 2011).  

In Guys with Tools v. Thurston, Dec. No. 062 (November 8, 2007), the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission (Commission) reiterated its holding “AS 23.30.095(a) represents a compromise between preventing ‘costly over treatment’ and protecting [an employee’s] free choice of . . .  physician . . .  The employee’s right to choose is preserved, but limited in the number of times it can be exercised at the expense of the employer.”  Examining the Board’s custom of excluding the reports and opinions of physicians selected in violation of AS 23.30.095(a), the Commission instructed the Board:   
If the board wishes to adopt a rule excluding evidence improperly obtained, the board should . . . adopt such a rule by regulation.  Until then, we cannot support the blanket exclusion of medical reports solely because the reports were written by physicians chosen in excess of an allowable change.

Id. 

The Board amended 8 AAC 45.082, effective July 9, 2011, to include just such an exclusionary rule, at 8 AAC 45.082(c).  

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

AS 23.30.135. Procedure before the board. (a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . .

The board may base its decisions not only on direct testimony and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).

An adjudicative body must base its decision on the law, whether cited by a party or not.  Barlow v. Thompson, 221 P.3d 998 (2009).

The board’s authority to hear and determine questions with respect to a claim is “limited to the questions raised by the parties or by the agency upon notice duly given to the parties.”  Simon v. Alaska Wood Products, 633 P.2d 252, 256 (Alaska 1981).  The board has discretion to raise questions on its own motion with sufficient notice to the parties.  Summers v. Korobkin Constr., 814 P.2d 1369, 1372, n. 6 (Alaska 1991). 

8 AAC 45.082. Medical treatment. . . .

. . .

(b) [formerly subsection (c)] Physicians may be changed as follows: 

. . .

(2) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, an employee injured on or after July 1, 1988, designates an attending physician by getting treatment, advice, an opinion, or any type of service from a physician for the injury.  If an employee gets service from a physician at a clinic, all the physicians in the same clinic who provide service to the employee are considered the employee’s attending physician.  An employee does not designate a physician as an attending physician if the employee gets service 

(A) at a hospital or an emergency care facility; 

(B) from a physician 

(i) whose name was given to the employee by the employer and the employee does not designate that physician as the attending physician; 

(ii) whom the employer directed the employee to see and the employee does not designate that physician as the attending physician; or 

(iii) whose appointment was set, scheduled, or arranged by the employer, and the employee does not designate that physician as the attending physician. 

(3) For an employee injured on or after July 1, 1988, an employer’s choice of physician is made by having a physician or panel of physicians selected by the employer give an oral or written opinion and advice after examining the employee, the employee’s medical records, or an oral or written summary of the employee’s medical records.  To constitute a panel, for purposes of this paragraph, the panel must complete its examination, but not necessarily the report, within five days after the first physician sees the employee.  If more than five days pass between the time the first and last physicians see the employee, the physicians do not constitute a panel, but rather a change of physicians. 

(4) Regardless of an employee’s date of injury, the following is not a change of an attending physician: 

(A) the employee moves a distance of 50 miles or more from the attending physician and the employee does not get services from the attending physician after moving; the first physician providing services to the employee after the employee moves is a substitution of physicians and not a change of attending physicians; 

(B) the attending physician dies, moves the physician’s practice 50 miles or more from the employee, or refuses to provide services to the employee; the first physician providing services to the employer thereafter is a substitution of physicians and not a change of attending physicians; 

(C) the employer suggests, directs, or schedules an appointment with a physician other than the attending physician, the other physician provides services to the employee, and the employee does not designate in writing that physician as the attending physician; 

(D) the employee requests in writing that the employer consent to a change of attending physicians, the employer does not give written consent or denial to the employee within 14 days after receiving the request, and thereafter the employee gets services from another physician. 

(c) If, after a hearing, the board finds a party made an unlawful change of physician in violation of AS 23.30.095(a) or (e) or this section, the board will not consider the reports, opinions, or testimony of the physician in any form, in any proceeding, or for any purpose.  If, after a hearing, the board finds an employee made an unlawful change of physician, the board may refuse to order payment by the employer.

(d) [version in effect on August 19, 2010] Medical bills for an employee’s treatment are due and payable within 30 days after the date the employer received the medical provider’s bill and a completed report on form 07-6102.  . . . 

8 AAC 45.086. Physician’s reports.  [version in effect on August 19, 2010] (a) A provider who renders medical or dental services under the Act shall file with the board and the employer a substantially complete form 07-6102 within 14 days after each treatment or service.


8 AAC 45.120. Evidence.

(a) Witnesses at a hearing shall testify under oath or affirmation. . . .

(b) The order in which evidence and argument is presented at the hearing will be in the discretion of the board, unless otherwise expressly provided by law. All proceedings must afford every party a reasonable opportunity for a fair hearing.

(c) Each party has the following rights at hearing:

(1) to call and examine witnesses; 

                        (2) to introduce exhibits; 

(3) to cross-examine opposing witnesses on any matter relevant to the issues even though the matter was not covered in the direct examination; 

(4) to impeach any witness regardless of which party first called the witness to testify; and; 

(5) to rebut contrary evidence.

. . . .

(e) Technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses do not apply in board proceedings, except as provided in this chapter.  Any relevant evidence is admissible if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions. . . .  

AS 44.62.460.  Evidence rules. . . . (d)  The hearing need not be conducted according to technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses.  Relevant evidence shall be admitted if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of a common law or statutory rule that makes improper the admission of the evidence over objection in a civil action.  . . . 

Alaska Rules of Evidence. Rule 702.  Testimony by Experts.

(a)  If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

(b) No more than three independent expert witnesses may testify for each side as to the same issue in any given case.  For purposes of this rule, an independent expert is a witness who is retained or specially employed to provide expert testimony in the case or whose duties as an employee of the party regularly involved giving expert testimony.  The court, upon the showing of good cause, may increase or decrease the number of independent experts to be called.

ANALYSIS
1. Did Employee make an unauthorized, excessive change of physician when she consulted Dr. Aldrete?

An injured employee may not make more than one change in the employee’s choice of attending physician without the written consent of the employer.  AS 23.30.095(a).  Referral to a specialist by the employee’s attending physician is not considered a change of physicians.  Id.  Employer concedes all of the physicians Employee saw prior to her August 19, 2010 urological consultation with Dr. Schoenrock were on referral and thus not changes of physician. Employer contends Employee did not have a referral to Dr. Schoenrock, making Dr. Schoenrock Employee’s one authorized change of physician.  It contends that since Employee did not have a referral to Dr. Aldrete, nor Employer’s written consent, Dr. Aldrete was an unauthorized, excessive change of physician whose reports, opinions and testimony are inadmissible.  

However, an employee designates an attending physician by getting treatment, advice, an opinion, or any type of service from a physician for the injury.  8 AAC 45.082(b)(2).  There is no evidence when Employee consulted with Dr. Schoenrock she was seeking treatment, advice, an opinion, or services for her 2007 work-related neck and back injuries.  There is no evidence that at the time Employee sought care from Dr. Schoenrock for her urological complaints, she was seeking care for anything other than common post-menopausal female urological problems.  

Employee’s New Patient Registration Form makes no mention of her having suffered any work injury.  It lists her insurance provider as Premera Blue Cross, her husband as the subscriber, and states the reason for her visit as “difficulty urinating,” “incomplete bladder emptying,” and “incontinence.”  There is no evidence Dr. Schoenrock was asked to complete, completed or filed a Physician Report Form 07-6102 for medical services provided in relation to a work injury, or that Dr. Schoenrock’s bills for professional services were submitted to Employer for payment for services related to a work injury.  

None of Dr. Schoenrock’s three chart notes make mention of Employee reporting to him having suffered any work injury, or seeking treatment from him for perceived sequelae from a work injury.  There is no evidence Employee ever solicited, or Dr. Schoenrock ever provided care for or an opinion concerning a relationship, if any, between Employee’s urological complaints and a work injury.  Indeed, there is no evidence Dr. Schoenrock even knew Employee sustained a work injury, or that Employee, prior to consulting Dr. Schoenrock for her urological symptoms, believed or had any reason to suspect her urological symptoms were related to her work injury. 

While Dr. Schoenrock’s August 19, 2010 chart note provides:  “CC (Chief complaint): Pt states that she has Arachnoiditis and has been having intermittent bladder and bowel problems,” this statement, in light of the totality of evidence surrounding the care Employee sought from Dr. Schoenrock, is unpersuasive evidence Employee was seeking care from him for either known or suspected sequelae of her work injury.   Beyond the first line in the August 19, 2010 medical record, neither “arachnoiditis” nor “bowel problems” are ever mentioned.  Indeed, bowel problems are not mentioned in any medical records.  The more persuasive interpretation of this single sentence is it is an imprecise paraphrasing by a nurse or medical assistant of Employee’s rendition of her chief complaints:  arachnoiditis, no surprise given her three year medical history, and her reason for consulting Dr. Schoenrock: bladder problems.  Dr. Schoenrock recorded Employee’s complaints as “c/o Dysuria.  c/o Incomplete Voiding.  c/o stress incontinence.  c/o urge incontinence.”  No weight is accorded the fact that the words “Arachnoiditis” and “bladder problems” are present in the first sentence of Dr. Schoenrock’s August 19, 2010 chart note.  “A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical . . .  reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.”  AS 23.30.122.
Employee did not seek treatment, advice, an opinion, or any type of service from Dr. Schoenrock for the 2007 work injury to her back and neck.  With respect to the work injury, Dr. Aldrete was Employee’s first, allowable, change of physician.

2. Should Dr. Aldrete’s opinions, reports and testimony be excluded? 

As Dr. Aldrete was Employee’s first, allowable, change of physician under AS 23.30.095(a), his   reports, opinions and testimony will not be excluded.

Given this result, the Board need not address Employee’s argument that Alaska Rules of Evidence, Rule 702 allows, and due process requires, Employee be allowed to call up to three expert witnesses.  However, pursuant to AS 44.62.460 and 8 AAC 45.120(e), technical rules of evidence do not apply in board proceedings.  AS 23.30.095(a), limiting the parties’ respective right to one change of physician without referral or written agreement of the opposing party, represents a reasonable compromise between preventing costly overtreatment and protecting an employee’s free choice of physician, and furthers the Act’s intent to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost to the employers.  Guys with Tools v. Thurston, AWCAC Dec. No. 062 (November 8, 2007).  Employee’s reliance on numerous board opinions in which expert witnesses testified is unpersuasive.  In none of those cases was a party’s use of an expert witness contested.  Moreover, all of the cited cases pre-dated the March 28, 2012 effective date of 8 AAC 45.082(c).


CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1. Employee did not make an unauthorized, excessive change of physician when she consulted Dr. Aldrete.  

2. Dr. Aldrete’s reports, opinions and testimony will not be excluded as the product of an unauthorized, excessive change of physician.

ORDER
Employer’s objection to admissibility of Dr. Aldrete’s report, opinions and testimony is denied.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 22nd day of July, 2013.
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RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A party may seek review of an interlocutory or other non-final Board decision and order by filing a petition for review with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission.  Unless a petition for reconsideration of a Board decision or order is timely filed with the board under AS 44.62.540, a petition for review must be filed with the commission within 15 days after service of the board’s decision and order.  If a petition for reconsideration is timely filed with the board, a petition for review must be filed within 15 days after the board serves the reconsideration decision, or within 15 days from date the petition for reconsideration is considered denied absent Board action, whichever is earlier.
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� An epidural blood patch is a �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Surgical_procedure" \o "Surgical procedure"�surgical procedure� that uses �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Autologous" \o "Autologous"�autologous� blood in order to close one or many holes in the �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dura_mater" \o "Dura mater"�dura mater� of the �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Spinal_cord" \o "Spinal cord"�spinal cord�, usually as a result of a previous �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lumbar_puncture" \o "Lumbar puncture"�lumbar puncture�. The procedure can be used to relieve �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Post_dural_puncture_headache" \o "Post dural puncture headache"�post dural puncture headaches� caused by �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lumbar_puncture" \o "Lumbar puncture"�lumbar puncture� (spinal tap). A small amount of the patient's �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Blood" \o "Blood"�blood� is injected into the epidural space near the site of the original puncture; the resulting �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Blood_clot" \o "Blood clot"�blood clot� then "patches" the meningeal leak. The procedure carries the typical risks of any epidural puncture. However, even though it is often effective, further intervention is sometimes necessary.


An epidural needle is inserted into the �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Epidural_space" \o "Epidural space"�epidural space� at the site of the �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cerebrospinal_fluid" \o "Cerebrospinal fluid"�cerebrospinal fluid� leak and blood is injected. The �HYPERLINK "http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Clotting_factors" \o "Clotting factors"�clotting factors� of the blood close the hole in the dura.


As such, the autologous blood does not "repair" the leak, but rather treats the patient's symptomology.


It is also postulated that the relief of the headache after an epidural blood patch is due to more of a compression effect than sealing the leak. Because the fluid column in the lumbar spine is continuous with the fluid around the brain, the blood exerts a "squeeze" and relieves the low pressure state in the head. http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Epidural_blood_patch.





� Low sodium level.  http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/242166-overview.


�Abnormally low concentration of chloride ions in the blood.http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/hypochloremia.





� Pain on urination.


�Cystometrogram. Urology. “A coordinated electromyographic evaluation of the bladder sphincter; cystometrography is used to determine bladder capacity, presence of voluntary or involuntary contractions of the detrusor muscle, and bladder compliance, and evaluate the integrity of the affector–sensory limb of the detrusor reflex arc.” McGraw-Hill Concise Dictionary of Modern Medicine. © 2002 by The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.


� Marshall test.  Definition:  manual deviation of bladder neck during strain or cough to ascertain presence of stress urinary incontinence. Stedman’s Medical Dictionary; http: //www. drugs.com/ search.php?sources %5B%5D= dict& search term = Marshall+test.


� Detrusor instability.  Uninhibitable bladder contractions that typically occur at bladder volumes below capacity.


Farlex Partner Medical Dictionary © Farlex 2012.  �HYPERLINK "http://medical-dictionary"�http://medical-dictionary�.thefreedictionary.com/detrusor + instability.


� Cystocele, midline.  “Female diagnosis.  Def:  Defect in the pubocervical fascia, the supportive layer of the bladder, causing bladder drop and herniated into the vagina along the midline.”  http://codingguides.nearspacemedical.com/coding-guide/code/618.
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